IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC10-1845

CARY MICHAEL LAMBRIX,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR GLADES COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

WILLIAM M. HENNIS III Litigation Director, CCRC-South Florida Bar No. 0066850

CRAIG J. TROCINO ASSISTANT CCRC Florida Bar No. 99620

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL-SOUTHERN REGION 101 N.E. 3rd AVE., SUITE 400 Ft. Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

INTRODUCTION

Cary Michael Lambrix has argued that he is innocent of the charges against him and of the death penalty. The case against him was wholly circumstantial. There were no eyewitnesses, no forensic or physical evidence and no confession to support the State's case of two counts of premeditated first-degree murder. The foundation of the case of capital premeditated murder against Mr. Lambrix was based on and built upon the information and testimony provided at trial in 1984 by his former girlfriend Frances Smith. For over twenty years, Mr. Lambrix has been arguing that the witnesses against him, including Frances Smith, were not credible.

The foundation of the instant appeal of Mr. Lambrix's case began in 2009 when he filed a successive Rule 3.851 motion predicated on newly discovered evidence in the form of FLDE Crime Lab documents that had never been provided to counsel but that were obtained through a third party outside the public records process.

Mr. Lambrix has consistently argued that he has not been able to obtain relief due to a series of procedural bars that have prevented any State or federal court from reaching the merits of most of his claims. This Court should review the proceedings below in light of the substantial evidence presented below during the long history of his case that supports Mr. Lambrix's actual innocence of the crimes for which he was convicted and sentenced to death. Part of that inquiry must be a

careful examination and review of the lower court's orders denying discovery and evidentiary development and thereafter making findings that are inconsistent with the evidence in the record.

There are significant findings in the lower court's orders that are simply not supported by competent and substantial evidence, rather the findings are in error and not supported by the record. The evidence to support the State's premeditated first degree murder case against Mr. Lambrix was the trial testimony of Frances Smith. Her credibility before the jury was critical in establishing the State's case against Mr. Lambrix. A review by this Court of all the collective weight of all the new evidence will support a finding upon this Court's de novo review that the state's theory of alleged premeditated murder was fabricated with the intent to wrongfully convict Mr. Lambrix. Mr. Lambrix's case is a legitimate actual innocence case. The case should be returned to the circuit court for a full and fair evidentiary hearing after DNA testing of the material forensic evidence revealed by the newly discovered FDLE Crime Lab records noted herein. In addition, this Court should return the case for a competency evaluation of Mr. Lambrix and a competency determination in the context of his continuing request to waive statutory post conviction CCRC counsel and to thereafter represent himself in the proceedings in state court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On March 29, 1983, Mr. Lambrix was charged with two counts of first-degree murder. His first trial ended with the declaration of a mistrial on December 17, 1983, when the jury failed to reach a verdict after deliberating for some eleven hours.

Mr. Lambrix's second trial, presided over by Judge Richard M. Stanley, commenced on February 20, 1984. On February 24, 1984, the jury found Mr. Lambrix guilty on both counts of the indictment. The penalty phase of Mr. Lambrix's trial was held on February 27, 1984. Mr. Lambrix did not testify at either the guilt or penalty phases of the trial. The jury recommended death with regard to both convictions, 10-2 and 8-4, respectively.

On March 22, 1984, Judge Stanley imposed two death sentences. On direct appeal, this Court upheld both the convictions and sentences and in so doing, labeled Judge Stanley "the ultimate symbol of neutrality" in his performance during the trial. *Lambrix v. State*, 494 So. 2d 1143, 1146 (Fla. 1986). Mr. Lambrix was subsequently denied collateral relief in both the State and federal courts.

The subsequent procedural history until the instant litigation, which began in 2009, can be found in the following opinions denying relief: *Lambrix v. Dugger*, 529 So. 2d 1110 (Fla. 1988); *Lambrix v. State*, 534 So. 2d 1151 (Fla. 1988); *Lambrix v. Dugger*, Case No. 88-12107-Civ-Zloch (S.D. Fla. May 12, 1992);

Lambrix v. Singletary, 641 So. 2d 847 (Fla. 1994); Lambrix v. Singletary, 72 F.3d 1500 (11th Cir. 1996); Lambrix v. Singletary, 83 F.3d 438 (11th Cir. 1996); Lambrix v. Singletary, 117 S.Ct. 380 (1996); Lambrix v. Singletary, 520 U.S. 518 (1997); Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247 (Fla. 1996); and Lambrix v. State, 39 So. 3d 260 (Fla. 2010), cert. denied January 13, 2011.

Judge Richard M. Stanley, the presiding judge at Mr. Lambrix's second trial in Glades County, testified under oath in *Porter v. State*, No. 78-199-CF (Fla. 20th Cir. Ct. 1997), regarding comments he made either before or during Mr. Porter's 1978 resentencing proceedings over which he had presided. PCR. 641-680. The hearing had been ordered based on information that Judge Stanley had said that he had agreed to a change of venue in Porter's case because Glades County "had good, fair minded people here who would listen and consider the evidence and then convict the son-of-a-bitch." Judge Stanley was alleged to have said that after that, he would send Porter to the electric chair. *Porter v. Singletary*, 49 F. 3d 1483 (11th Cir. 1995). At the *Porter* hearing, Judge Stanley also admitted that he always sat in court with a "sawed off machine gun laying across [his] lap."

In *Porter v. State*, 723 So. 2d 191 (Fla. 1998), this Court found that, as a matter of law, Judge Stanley lacked the constitutionally required impartiality and neutrality in Mr. Porter's case at both the original sentencing proceeding and the resentencing proceeding.

On January 16, 1998, Mr. Lambrix filed a Rule 3.850 motion alleging that the new evidence of Judge Stanley's lack of impartiality warranted relief. An amendment to the motion was filed in December 1998 that included a new claim concerning new potential testimony by trial witness Deborah Hanzel, who had been deposed in September 1998. PCR. 1008. A second amended motion was filed on January 10, 2001 consolidating all claims.

Thereafter, the lower court entered an Order denying the judicial bias claim and an ineffective assistance of collateral counsel claim but granting an evidentiary hearing based on the claim concerning a change in testimony, based on the Hanzel affidavit. PCR. 1159-60. On October 17, 2002, Ms. Hanzel, prosecutor Randall McGruther, and CCRC Middle attorney Ed Doskey all testified concerning the new testimony issue. PCR. 8029-84.

Hanzel testified that, contrary to her trial testimony, Mr. Lambrix never told her that he killed anyone. She indicated that law enforcement investigators made her afraid of Mr. Lambrix by telling her that he would come back and harm her and her children. Based on what investigators told her, Hanzel said she was frightened into believing that Mr. Lambrix committed the murders. However, she testified that nothing Mr. Lambrix ever said made her afraid of him; it was only what law enforcement told her that caused her to fear him. She also testified at the evidentiary hearing, contrary to her trial testimony, that she did not recall any

telephone calls from Mr. Lambrix, however, she maintained that Mr. Lambrix never told her that he killed anyone. PCR. 8057-58; 8038-58.

Mr. Lambrix filed an October 11, 2002 amendment alleging a procedural due process violation under *Atkins v. Virginia*, 537 U.S. 304 (2002). PCR. 1321-1355. On June 20, 2003 another amendment, a claim based upon *Ring v. Arizona*, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), was also filed. PCR. 5869-5906.

On July 10, 2003 the lower court entered an order denying the claim concerning the Hanzel recantation after an evidentiary hearing, denied the *Atkins* claim as being without merit, and ignored the *Ring v. Arizona* claim completely. PCR. 5793-5869. Mr. Lambrix filed a motion for rehearing.

While rehearing was pending, Hanzel wrote a letter to the lower court indicating that she had failed to tell the truth at the evidentiary hearing. PCR. 6000-02. In the letter, Hanzel also revealed for the first time that Frances Smith told her that Mr. Lambrix told her that he struck the male deceased, Lawrence Lamberson, only after Lamberson first attacked Mr. Lambrix. *See id.* In December 2003 Hanzel provided an affidavit memorializing these facts. PCR. 5984-86. The lower court *sua sponte* ordered further hearings.

On February 9, 2004, Hanzel testified that Mr. Lambrix never told her that he killed Bryant or Lamberson and she explained that the reason she initially said that he did tell her that he killed two people was due to the fact that Frances Smith

asked her to go along with "what she had to say." PCR. 8145-47. Hanzel told the lower court that Frances Smith admitted that she did not know what happened outside the trailer except that Mr. Lambrix told her that he had to hit Lamberson after he "went nuts" and attacked Mr. Lambrix after something happened with Bryant. PCR. 8152.

The State announced its intention to call Frances Smith as a rebuttal witness and the proceedings were continued so the defense could take her deposition.² During the deposition in open court on April 5, 2004 Frances Smith revealed that she and state attorney investigator Daniels had a sexual encounter during the prosecution of the Defendant. PCR. 8273-78; 7823-38 (March 30, 2007 Order).

The defense also called William MacMillen, an employee of Verizon Communications, to introduce telephone records to establish that Frances Smith and Debbie Hanzel had communications early on during the investigation of the case. PCR. 8308-17; 8316. MacMillen affirmed that the records indicated three calls between Hanzel's residence and Frances Smith's residence on February 21, 1983 (17 minute duration), March 3, 1983 (4 minute duration) and on March 5, 1983 (1 minute duration).

Mr. Lambrix then took the stand and explained that victim Lamberson was

² The deposition was conducted in open court because the State had improperly instructed the witness not to answer questions. PCR. 6304-07 (Order of April 4, 2004).

physically attacking victim Bryant and that Lamberson had been killed as a result of Mr. Lambrix trying to defend both himself and Bryant. PCR. 8317-50. The lower court's final order denying relief made no mention of Mr. Lambrix's testimony and made no credibility finding.

In a subsequent status conference on March 30, 2004 the lower court denied a pending defense motion to compel public records directed to the state attorney requesting production of aerial photos alleged to show ponding on the crime scene property, holding that the photos were related to a collateral matter. These photographs had been explicitly promised to the defense at the February 9, 2004 hearing by Assistant State Attorney McGruther. PCR. 8202; 8230.

At the same hearing the lower court refused to hear testimony from Susan Johnson Deller, who owned the land at the crime scene and who had provided an affidavit stating that there was no pond on the property. PCR. 6241-43, 8231-32. These matters were material where Frances Smith testified at Mr. Lambrix's second trial that he had told her he had placed the female victim face down in a pond. That testimony was argued by the State as proof of premeditation and the CCP aggravator. PCR. 1836.

On November 18, 2004 Appellant filed a consolidated motion based upon newly discovered evidence. This motion included Claim VI: newly discovered evidence that Debbie Hanzel's false testimony at trial was the result of fabrication

by Frances Smith and Investigator Daniels; Claim VII: a *Brady/Giglio*³ claim based on the new evidence that Frances Smith and Investigator Daniels had a sexual relationship that impacted on the investigation and presentation of evidence in Mr. Lambrix's case to his substantial prejudice; and Claim VIII: a claim that the fundamental miscarriage of justice doctrine requires the review of claims that were previously found to be procedurally barred. PCR. 6781-7019.

A *Huff*⁴ hearing was held on August 19, 2005. PCR. 8444-8540. On June 14, 2006, Mr. Lambrix filed a motion for leave to amend the pending 3.850 motion, with an attached amendment alleging that the Office of the State Attorney conducted a secret investigation into Frances Smith's allegations of sexual misconduct that involved interviewing witnesses and reviewing Investigator Daniel's flight logs. PCR. 7242-47; 7248-51. Mr. Lambrix also filed a "Memorandum of Law in Support of Allowing the Defendant to prove his Claims" in support of the presentation and relevancy of certain expert witnesses listed on his witness list. PCR. 7218-26.

In a June 20, 2006 order, the lower court denied leave to amend and, over defense objection, severely limited the evidence to be presented at the evidentiary hearing to the "threshold issue" of whether or not there was an illicit relationship

³ Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150 (1972).

⁴ Huff v. State, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993).

between Frances Smith and state attorney investigator Robert Daniels during the investigation and prosecution of Mr. Lambrix and whether there was a promise of immunity from the state in exchange for the cooperation of Frances Smith. PCR. 7259-65.

After numerous depositions were taken, further evidentiary proceedings were held on July 19-20, 2006. PCR. 8701-9093.⁵ Frances Smith testified that she was aware that she was a suspect in the case at the time of the investigation and she thought the police needed to believe her story. PCR. 8830-31; 8861-62. She testified that she stayed in a hotel in connection with this case and that Investigator Daniels called her to his hotel room where they had sexual intercourse. PCR. 8723-24. She agreed that they probably were drinking. *Id.* She testified that she was not proud of her actions. PCR. 8725.

Investigator Daniels then testified that it was his understanding that Frances Smith had received consideration from the state attorney in the form of dropped charges after her polygraph examination and promise of truthful testimony. PCR. 8856-58. He testified that Frances Smith also told him - off the record - that the reason that she went to the authorities was because she had been arrested in the car

_

⁵ Testimony heard at the final evidentiary hearing was from Frances Smith, Investigator Miles R. Daniels, Doug Schwendeman (Smith's ex-husband), Kinley Engvalson (former trial counsel), The Honorable Robert R. Jacobs II (former trial counsel and now deceased), Tony Pires (a former assistant state attorney), assistant state attorney Randall McGruther and Investigator William McQuinn.

that belonged to Lamberson. PCR. 8865. On cross-examination Investigator Daniels denied that he had sex with Frances Smith during the course of the investigation or during the trials of Mr. Lambrix. PCR. 8891.

The lower court entered an order finding as a fact that there was no sexual encounter between Frances Smith and former SAO Investigator Daniels on March 30, 2007. PCR. 7823-38. After allowing Mr. Lambrix to present argument regarding his entitlement for further evidentiary development, the lower court entered a final order denying post-conviction relief on November 13, 2007. PCR. 7870-85. Notice of Appeal was docketed in this Court on January 16, 2008 in Case No. SC08-64. During the pendency of the appeal, Mr. Lambrix served an Initial Brief on October 28, 2008, and thereafter served an amended and corrected Initial Brief on January 21, 2009. The State served an Answer Brief on February 9, 2009. Mr. Lambrix's Reply Brief was served April 13, 2009. Following oral argument on November 4, 2009, this Court denied relief. *Lambrix v. State*, 39 So. 3d 260 (Fla. 2010).

While the prior appeal in Case No. SC08-64 was pending, on September 9, 2008, CCRC South counsel was contacted by an independent researcher named Michael Hickey. Mr. Hickey advised that he had received a production of records from the Florida Department of Law Enforcement (FDLE) in July 2008 that concerned the investigation of Mr. Lambrix's case pre-trial. His own investigation

indicated to him that some of these records had never been turned over to trial counsel or to postconviction counsel in the subsequent litigation of Mr. Lambrix's case.

Hickey provided CCRC counsel with copies of the records that he received from both FDLE and the records repository. After reviewing what Hickey provided and comparing all the FDLE records with those that had been previously provided to postconviction counsel, undersigned counsel recognized that some of the documents could be considered newly discovered evidence.

Counsel for Mr. Lambrix thereafter sent a letter to the Records Repository on November 14, 2008, inquiring about any FDLE records at the repository associated with Mr. Lambrix's case. It described the situation as follows:

Dear Ms. Golding:

The Office of the Capital Collateral Regional Counsel - South, currently represents Cary Michael Lambrix, an indigent, death-sentenced Florida inmate, in his capital postconviction appeal in the above captioned case. This letter is intended to inquire as to whether your agency, or the Commission on Capital Cases before you, has ever received any production of records in this case directly from FDLE and, if so, how many pages that production included.

During the pendency of the current appeal, undersigned counsel was contacted by a Mr. Michael Hickey concerning his own independent requests in July 2008 from both the repository and FDLE for records related to the above captioned case. Mr. Hickey provided me with his correspondence with repository employees

Miriam Spalding and Holly Sinco. It appears to describe the indexing of all the materials in your collection concerning the Lambrix case. Specifically, the correspondence noted that what you had there included Series 1739 Box 683 and Series 1739 Box 152. My own records indicate that these boxes were produced to the Commission in January 1999 and provided to CCRC-South in January 2000 and that Box 683 was produced by the State Attorney, 20th Judicial Circuit, and Box 152 was produced by the Florida Department of Corrections.

Mr. Hickey ultimately obtained 189 pages of documents directly from FDLE described as "lab case pages/documents". Your agency provided Mr. Hickey with 49 pages of FDLE Physical Evidence State Archive documents. My assumption is that the 49 pages of FDLE documents from the repository came from the State Attorney files (Box 683).

To the best of my knowledge, FDLE never has produced any records directly to the Commission or the repository. There was a production by FDLE directly to CCR on March 30, 1987. Please confirm that there has not been a production of records by FDLE to the Commission or the repository reflected by your collection and records. In addition, please confirm that there are no sealed boxes or files that were produced to the Commission or repository in the Lambrix case.

If I can be of any assistance to you in fulfilling this request, do not hesitate to contact me.

Sincerely,
William M. Hennis III
Litigation Director
CCRC-South
Attorney for Mr. Lambrix

On November 17, 2008, the repository staff responded to counsel's inquiry

concerning records production from FDLE by advising that that office had only received three boxes of records in the case of Cary Michael Lambrix: Box 152 from the Department of Corrections; Box 153 a sealed box from Department of Corrections, and Box 683, a box from the State Attorney, 20th Judicial Circuit.

The repository affirmed in an email dated November 17, 2008 that FDLE had never produced any records to the Repository. Counsel requested that a compact disk of all the records in the repository be provided to make certain that FDLE had never produced any records to the repository. Under cover of a letter dated December 4, 2008 the Repository provided the disks and copies of the transmittals and indices indicating that only the Florida Department of Corrections and the State Attorney's Office in Labelle, Florida had submitted records to the repository, respectively on January 15, 1999 and July 7, 1999.

The only FDLE documents held in the records repository collection of Mr. Lambrix were three file units or folders within the State Attorney's production: #8 FDLE Connie Smith report/notes (73 pages), #25 Lab report and submission notes (48 pages), and #26, Crime scene and evidence reports (4 pages). Therefore the SAO file contained a total of 52 pages of FDLE lab related documents. The FDLE never made any agency production to the records repository in Mr. Lambrix's case.

The production of public records in the Lambrix case by FDLE to then CCR Counsel Billy Nolas was invoiced on March 30, 1987. The invoice noted 696

pages of documents to be reproduced at .10 a page (\$69.90) and an additional charge of \$24.76 for an unspecified number of reproduced photographs.

A internal review of this material in CCRC South's files revealed that only 41 original pages of the 696 pages produced by FDLE to postconviction counsel in 1987 were "Lab Case Pages" related to FDLE testing. (PCR2. 81-124). Thus the lab notes and reports obtained in September 2008 by Mr. Hickey contained information never before provided to Mr. Lambrix by FDLE. (PCR2. 125-317).

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