IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CARY MICHAEL LAMBRIX,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NO. SC12-06

Lower Tribunal No. 83-12-CF

DEATH PENALTY CASE

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR GLADES COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI
ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0802743
Concourse Center 4
3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
scott.browne@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

underlying Dr. Hyde's opinion have been known, or should have been known to Lambrix and prior counsel. Since the underlying facts could clearly have been uncovered with due diligence prior to 2010, Dr. Hyde's report and opinion do not constitute newly discovered evidence. Further, since this report arguably would simply bolster or augment his previously made and rejected ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel claim, it is procedurally barred from review in a successive motion. See Aldridge v. State, 503 So. 2d 1257, 1258 (Fla. 1987) (a defendant may not raise "somewhat different facts" to support an ineffective assistance of counsel claim in a successive motion and such a claim is procedurally barred from review); Buenoano v. State, 708 So. 2d 941, 951 n.8 (Fla. 1998) (a defendant cannot continue to raise ineffective assistance of counsel claims in a "piecemeal fashion" by filing successive motions).

Lambrix now asserts that his case is in some way like Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). However, Lambrix's brief service in the peacetime military has nothing in common with the defendant in Porter. Porter experienced extensive, hard, frontline combat in the Korean War, and suffered post-traumatic stress syndrome as a result. Lambrix, never served in combat, and, fell down stairs and hurt his back in a brief and unremarkable stint in the service. See Reed v. Secretary,

Florida Dept. of Corrections, 593 F.3d 1217, 1249 (11th Cir. 2010) (noting that the defendant's extensive combat service was critical to the Supreme Court's decision in Porter). Porter provides no support for Lambrix's argument.

In addition to those facts clearly distinguishing Porter from this case, this Court has recently rejected the notion that Porter requires re-examination of previously rejected ineffective assistance of counsel claims. In Walton v. State, 77 So. 3d 639, 644 (Fla. 2011), this Court rejected any suggestions that Porter constituted a fundamental change in the law which might support a successive motion to vacate, stating:

The trial level postconviction court here properly denied Walton's second successive postconviction motion because the decision in *Porter* does not constitute a fundamental change in the law that mandates retroactive application under *Witt*. Walton filed his motion well after the one-year deadline for postconviction motions under rule 3.851. Walton's claim that *Porter* applies retroactively is incorrect and insufficient as a matter of law for a successive motion because the decision in *Porter* does not concern a major change in constitutional law of fundamental significance. Rather, *Porter* involved a mere application and evolutionary refinement and development of the *Strickland* analysis, i.e., it addressed a misapplication of *Strickland*. *Porter*, therefore, does not satisfy the retroactivity requirements of *Witt*. See generally *Witt*, 387 So. 2d at 924-31.

Further, in the proceedings below, collateral counsel essentially asked the postconviction trial court to reevaluate Walton's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel that had been litigated in his

prior postconviction motion in light of the decision in *Porter*. This is not a permitted retroactive application as articulated in *Witt*, which allows a limited retroactive application only to changes in the law that are of fundamental constitutional significance.

Finally, despite the obvious and immense procedural hurdles to reaching the merits of this claim, it is clear that no relief is warranted. As noted, the jury was aware that Lambrix was discharged after a brief stint in the peacetime army after an accident. The subsequent recognition of a service related disability, some thirty years after the fact, adds little, if anything and does not constitute newly discovered evidence as noted, above.

Assuming for a moment this evidence qualifies as newly discovered, it is clear it would not lead to a different sentence. Lambrix's case is highly aggravated, with a double homicide with multiple and weighty aggravators applicable to each murder. As noted by this Court in Lambrix, 494 So. 2d at 1148: "The five aggravating circumstances found by the trial judge are: (1) the capital felonies were committed by a person under sentence of imprisonment, section 921.141(5)(a), Florida Statutes (1983); (2) the defendant was previously convicted of another capital felony, section 921.141(5)(b); (3) the capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain, section 921.141(5)(f);

(4) the capital felonies were especially heinous, atrocious or cruel, section 921.141(5)(h); and (5) the capital felonies were homicides and committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification, section 921.141(5)(i)." The brutal nature of the murders alone, would overwhelm any of the information Lambrix seeks to present in the successive motion. Accordingly, summary denial would be appropriate even in the absence of the clear procedural and time bars applicable to Lambrix's claim.

C. Cumulative Error Allegation

Lambrix finally asserts that his current claim warrants revisiting his previously rejected claims under a cumulative error analysis. This argument lacks any merit. Untimely, procedurally barred, and meritless claims do not warrant a cumulative analysis. Troy v. State, 57 So. 3d 828, 844 (Fla. 2011) ("However, where the allegations of individual error are procedurally barred or meritless, a claim of cumulative error also fails."); Gore v. State, 24 So. 3d 1, 15 (Fla. 2009) (stating that "because Gore's individual claims of error are without merit, any cumulative error analysis would be futile."). As noted above, there is no valid error present to "cumulate" with previously litigated claims in prior proceedings. Indeed, such an analysis would be particularly inappropriate here, where

the claims Lambrix attempts to cumulate, are procedurally barred as issues which either have been, or could have been raised in previous post-conviction motions. The affidavits attached to the successive motion, with the exception of Lambrix's ex-wife, were created for the most part in the early 1990's.¹¹ Such claims now are both untimely and procedurally barred from consideration in this, Lambrix's fifth successive motion for post-conviction relief.

While the State notes that no cumulative analysis is warranted under the circumstances, it will briefly address some of the allegations made by Lambrix in his brief.

Initially, the State notes that Lambrix failed to adhere to the pleading requirements for a successive motion, specifically Rule 3.852 (e)(2)(B), which requires a defendant to set forth "the disposition" of previous claims raised in post-conviction proceedings. Indeed, Lambrix's cumulative error claim was nothing more than a misleading stew of previously rejected claims. As such, it was facially insufficient.

Lambrix's contention that he was prevented from testifying is an old one, and, one that does not gain strength from

¹¹ One is an affidavit from 2004, but this too, cannot qualify for newly discovered evidence.

repetition. Lambrix, 72 F.3d at 1508.¹² Any consideration of this claim now is both time barred and procedurally barred.

Lambrix's contention that his previously rejected ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel claim must be revisited was not a heavily aggravated case is unsupported, and, has been rejected by this Court. In affirming summary denial of his prior ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the court recognized that this was a highly aggravated double homicide. The court stated:

With respect to the penalty phase, there is no doubt that testimony of Lambrix's relatives concerning his history of alcoholism as well as expert testimony of his chemical dependency would have been admissible. The question here is whether it would have made any difference. This was a double murder in which this Court approved the finding of four and five aggravating circumstances respectively. The five aggravating circumstances were: (1) the capital felony was committed by a person under sentence of imprisonment; (2) Lambrix was previously convicted of another capital felony; (3) the capital felony was committed for pecuniary gain; (4) the capital felony

¹² As the Eleventh Circuit held in Lambrix, 72 F.3d at 1508:

...However, there is simply no evidence in the record that Lambrix was coerced not to testify in his second trial. Two months is sufficient time for Lambrix and counsel to discuss a new trial strategy which would permit Lambrix to testify on his own behalf, or for Lambrix to request other counsel who would allow him to exercise this right. Without evidence that Lambrix was subject to continued coercion, we cannot assume that Lambrix's apparent acquiescence to a trial strategy in which he did not testify was anything but voluntary.

was especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel; and (5) the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification. Despite the fact that character testimony was presented during the penalty phase, the court found no mitigating circumstances with respect to either murder. We do not believe the introduction of the proffered testimony concerning Lambrix's alcoholism would probably have resulted in life imprisonment rather than a sentence of death.

Lambrix, 534 So. 2d at 1154. The aggravators in this case include two of the most weighty under Florida's capital sentencing scheme, HAC and CCP. See Larkins v. State, 739 So. 2d 90, 95 (Fla. 1999) (stating that "heinous, atrocious, or cruel" and cold, calculated and premeditated aggravators are "two of the most serious aggravators set out in the statutory sentencing scheme...").

Finally, Lambrix's belated claim of childhood abuse was previously litigated in federal court. In rejecting this claim, the Eleventh Circuit noted the following:

Lambrix also argues that counsel's investigation was inadequate because counsel failed to learn of Lambrix's childhood experiences of sexual abuse, physical abuse, and neglect. Lambrix proffers the affidavits of family members and friends, including some of the witnesses that counsel called during sentencing, who swear they would have been happy to testify as to Lambrix's abused childhood if they had only been asked.[FN8] However, when counsel conducted the penalty phase investigation, there is no indication that Lambrix or Lambrix's relatives gave counsel reason to believe that such evidence might exist. Cf. *Jackson v. Herring*, 42 F.3d 1350, 1367 (11th Cir. 1995) (ineffective assistance where counsel

had evidence that certain mitigating circumstances might exist but failed to investigate further); *Middleton v. Dugger*, 849 F.2d 491, 493 (11th Cir. 1988) (ineffective assistance where defendant informed counsel that mitigating evidence existed and counsel failed to investigate). Moreover, although there was ample extant documentary evidence of Lambrix's alcohol and drug problems, Lambrix does not point us to any documentary evidence of Lambrix's abuse or neglect that would have been readily available to counsel at the time. *Cf. Middleton*, 849 F.2d at 494 (counsel on notice of mitigating evidence when readily available records from various reform schools, family court, youth services, and prison health services chronicled defendant's childhood of brutal treatment, neglect, physical, sexual and drug abuse, low I.Q. and mental illness). In fact, in his interview with Dr. Whitman, Lambrix denied any physical or sexual abuse by his parents.[FN9]

FN8. The district court refused to hear this, or any, evidence of sexual and physical abuse. As originally brought to the state courts, and before the district court below, Lambrix's claim that he received ineffective assistance during the penalty phase was based solely upon counsel's failure to uncover and present drug and alcohol dependency evidence. For the first time at the evidentiary hearing before the district court, Lambrix attempted to claim that counsel's performance was also deficient for failure to discover available evidence of sexual and physical abuse and neglect. Reasoning that this was an attempt to raise an entirely new factual theory which significantly altered Lambrix's ineffective assistance claim, the district court refused to hear the sexual and physical abuse evidence. *See Footman v. Singletary*, 978 F.2d 1207, 1211 (11th Cir. 1992) ("[A] habeas petitioner may not present instances of ineffective assistance of counsel in his federal petition that the state court has not evaluated previously."). Because we dispose of Lambrix's ineffective assistance claim on other grounds, we do not address Lambrix's claim that the district

court erred in failing to permit a "full and fair" hearing on the sexual and physical abuse evidence.

FN9. There is no evidence that Lambrix ever denied the sexual abuse that he now alleges by a neighbor. However, during the sentencing hearing, Lambrix's brother portrayed the particular neighbor as a good influence in Lambrix's life, i.e., as an elderly person who Lambrix occasionally helped out with work around the house and yard. Thus, counsel had no indication that this particular neighbor might have abused Lambrix.

Lambrix v. Singletary, 72 F.3d at 1505-1506.

Lambrix's assertion that he is innocent of the death penalty or that a "manifest injustice" exception permits an open sesame to his previously rejected and untimely claims, is patently without merit. Lambrix quotes verbatim his lower court claim, citing Sawyer v. Whitley, 505 U.S. 333, 346 (1992) to contend that his prior challenges to the aggravators must be revisited. (Appellant's Brief at 63-64). The lack of argument accompanying this claim alone is sufficient to reject it. See Pagan v. State, 29 So. 3d 938, 957 (Fla. 2009) ("The purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal. Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived." (quoting Duest v. Dugger, 555 So. 2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990))).

In any case, it is clear under Sawyer v. Whitley, that a defendant must show that but for constitutional error, the sentencing jury could not have found any aggravating factors and thus, the defendant was ineligible for the death penalty. Johnson v. Singletary, 938 F.2d 1166, 1183 (11th Cir. 1991) (en banc). Lambrix's challenges to the aggravating circumstances have previously been rejected by this Court.

This Court resolved this claim in 1994, when it stated, in part:

In the instant case, Lambrix properly raised and preserved his *Espinosa* objection at trial. The record reveals that, although Lambrix failed to object specifically to the vagueness of the instruction on the heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor, he did request a limiting instruction based on the definition of the aggravator found in *State v. Dixon*, 283 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973), *cert. denied*, 416 U.S. 943, 94 S.Ct. 1950, 40 L.Ed.2d 295 (1974). However, Lambrix did not raise the issue of the trial court's failure to include this special instruction on his direct appeal and, consequently, Lambrix's *Espinosa* claim is procedurally barred. *Cf. Henderson v. Singletary*, 617 So. 2d 313 (Fla.) (claim was procedurally barred because it was not raised on appeal even though the defendant had preserved the issue at trial by both objecting to the instruction and requesting an expanded instruction), *cert. denied*, 507 U.S. 1047, 113 S.Ct. 1891, 123 L.Ed.2d 507 (1993).

Because appellate counsel failed to anticipate the United States Supreme Court decision in *Espinosa* and raise the *Espinosa* claim on direct appeal, Lambrix next argues that appellate counsel was ineffective. Although this present ineffective assistance of counsel claim is based on a different issue, Lambrix has already raised numerous claims alleging

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